
 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE WESTERN DISTRICT OF KENTUCKY

AT LOUISVILLE

--------------------------------------------------------------X
Casey William Hyland, Graham Pullen, and :
Christopher Burnette :

:
:            THIRD AMENDED 

Plaintiffs, : CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT
:

v. :
: Civil Action#: 3:05-CV-612-R
:
:

HomeServices of America, Inc., HomeServices of :
Kentucky, Inc., Semonin Realtors, Rector :
Hayden Realtors, RE/MAX International, Inc., :
RE/MAX Connections, Properties East, Inc., :
d/b/a RE/MAX Properties East, Century :
21 Real Estate LLC (f/k/a Century 21 Real :
Estate Corporation), Cendant Corporation, :
Coldwell Banker Real Estate Corporation, :
Coldwell Banker McMahan, Alliance :
Real Estate Services, LLC, d/b/a RE/MAX :
Alliance and Suzy N. Watkins, d/b/a :
RE/MAX Alliance. :

:
Defendants. : JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

--------------------------------------------------------------X

Plaintiffs bring this antitrust action on behalf of a class of persons or entities who

purchased or sold real estate in the Commonwealth  of Kentucky from January 1, 1991, to the

present.  Plaintiffs= claims as to themselves and their own actions are based upon their

knowledge.  All other allegations are based upon information and belief pursuant to the

investigation of counsel.  As and for their Second Amended Class Action Complaint, Plaintiffs

allege as follows:

I. NATURE OF THE ACTION

1.  Defendants combined, conspired and agreed to fix, maintain and inflate real estate
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broker commissions and associated fees and refuse to compete on the basis of price in

transactions in real estate located within the Commonwealth of Kentucky (“Kentucky Real

Estate”).

2.  The price of real estate has increased dramatically, and (due, inter alia, to the internet)

the costs of providing real estate broker fees have declined during the Class Period.

3.  Yet, certain Defendants, individually and collectively, have charged a real estate

broker commission of 6%, have described this 6% fee as the “standard” or “typical” fee, and

have habitually refused to negotiate a lower fee.  Certain Defendants have stated that they would

not negotiate a lower fee unless another broker were  willing to do so.

4.  In such circumstances, in a competitive market free of Defendants’ unlawful

combination, conspiracy, or agreement, a standard or typical commission of 6% would not exist

for real estate brokers’ similar, virtually standardized services.  Moreover, Defendants would not

predicate their willingness to negotiate a reduction of the commission on the conduct or pricing

decision of another broker.

5.  However, certain Defendants are and have been the leading real estate brokers in

Kentucky during the Class Period with an aggregate market share in excess of 70% and, in

certain areas of the state, in excess of 90%.

6.  In addition to their limited number and market power, Defendants frequently (a) work

with one another in order to complete a transaction, (b) are expressly aware of the fee charged by

one another, (c) provide a very similar (virtually standardized) service; and (d) frequently

aggregate their services to provide multiple listings of real estate. 

7.  Thus, according to a statement made by a real estate broker employee to the Kentucky

Real State Commission (hereinafter “KREC”): ACommissions and sales awards are common in
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other industries.  The bigger wrong being committed by agents and brokers is the informal

unspoken price fixing that occurs.@ (Emphasis supplied.)

8.  In addition to the Defendants’ frequent contact with one another, their knowledge of

what one another charges, and the foregoing statement about informal price fixing, another

aspect of Defendants’ unlawful agreement is reflected in an anti-rebate rule (“Rebate Ban”)

which was in effect between 1991 and 2005.  See, Stipulation and Order, United States of

America v. Kentucky Real Estate Commission, Civil Action No. 3:05-CV-00188-S.

9.  This KREC rule insured that Defendants did not cheat on their price-fixing agreement

by providing a rebate or other discount off of the stated fee.

10.  The rule did so by preventing rebates or other reductions in the originally negotiated

fee regardless of how easy, quick or costless the real estate transaction proved to be for the

broker.

11.  Notwithstanding various brokers’ statements to KREC about price-fixing, the KREC

continued the Rebate Ban until 2005.  Defendants have had substantial influence over the KREC

due to the fact that four of the five commissioners on the Commission must be practicing real

estate brokers.  The real estate broker Defendants used this influence to keep the Rebate Ban in

effect during the Class Period.

12.  However, because the Rebate Ban facilitated price fixing, the Department of Justice

(hereinafter “DOJ”) commenced suit and voided the same.  Id.  Only after, and in order to settle,

the serious charges by the Department of Justice did the KREC finally void the anti-rebate rule. 

Id. 

13.  As a direct result of Defendants’ aforesaid combination, conspiracy and agreement,

Plaintiffs and Class members have paid an inflated commission that was higher than they would
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have paid to transact in Kentucky real estate in the absence of Defendants’ unlawful agreement.

14.  Therefore, Plaintiffs and the members of the Class were damaged in their property,

including by the difference between what they would have paid in a competitive market for

Defendants’ services and what they did pay due to such unlawful agreement.  Given the long-

term nature of Defendants’ violation, the structure of the industry, and the likelihood of

continued violation, equitable relief enjoining further violative conduct is appropriate and

necessary. 

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

15.  The Plaintiffs and the Class members bring this suit pursuant to Section 4 of the

Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. §15, to recover treble damages and costs of suit, including reasonable

attorney’s fees, sustained by reason of Defendants’ violations of the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. §1.

16.  The Plaintiffs and the Class members also bring this suit pursuant to '26 of the

Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. '26, to preclude certain Defendants= continuing violation of '1 of the

Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. '1.

17.  Subject matter jurisdiction is conferred upon this Court pursuant to 28 U.S.C.

''1331 and 1337, and by §4 of the Clayton Act, 15 U.S.C. '15. 

18.  Venue is proper in this District pursuant to the provisions of 15 U.S.C. '22, and 28

U.S.C. '1391.  Defendants transact business, maintain offices, or are found within this state. 

The commerce described hereinafter is carried on, in part, within this District.

III. INTERSTATE TRADE AND COMMERCE

19.  Upon information and belief, the unlawful acts alleged herein were in the flow of and

substantially affected interstate trade and commerce.

20.  Billions of dollars worth of real property is exchanged each year in the
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Commonwealth of Kentucky with the assistance of real estate brokers who are governed by the

KREC and work for certain named Defendants herein.  Real estate brokers assist in-state and

out-of state clients to buy, sell, lease, or manage real property in the Commonwealth  of

Kentucky.  Interstate mortgage financing is affected by this exchange of property.

IV. PARTIES

21.  Plaintiff Casey William Hyland is a resident of Louisville, Kentucky.  During the

Class Period, Plaintiff purchased real estate in the Commonwealth of Kentucky, and paid a

supra-competitive 6% broker commission to Defendant Semonin-Realtors.  By Order of this

Court dated December 1, 2006, Plaintiff Casey William Hyland’s claims were dismissed. 

Accordingly, this Complaint does not name Casey William Hyland as a plaintiff at this time. 

However, Casey William Hyland reserves his right to appeal such dismissal.

22.  Plaintiff Graham Pullen is a resident of Louisville, Kentucky.  During the Class

Period, Plaintiff purchased real estate in the Commonwealth of Kentucky, and paid a supra-

competitive 6% broker commission to Defendants RE/MAX Connections and RE/MAX

Properties East.   By Order of this Court dated December 1, 2006, Plaintiff Graham Pullen’s

claims were dismissed.  Accordingly, this Complaint does not name Graham Pullen as a plaintiff

at this time.  However, Graham Pullen reserves his right to appeal such dismissal.

(a)  Plaintiff Christopher Burnette is a resident of Savannah, Georgia.  During the Class 

Period, Plaintiff sold real estate in the Commonwealth of Kentucky, and paid a supra-

competitive 6% broker commission to Defendant RE/MAX Alliance.

23.  Defendant HomeServices of America, Inc. (hereinafter AHomeServices of America@)

is incorporated in the state of Delaware and its principal place of business is 6800 France

Avenue South, Suite 710, Edina, Minnesota 55435.  HomeServices of America is the second
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largest real estate company and the premier family of real estate sales associates and brokerages

in the nation. 

24.  Defendant HomeServices of Kentucky, Inc. (AHomeServices of Kentucky@) is

incorporated in the Commonwealth of Kentucky and its principal place of business is 4967 US

Highway 42, Suite 200, Louisville, Kentucky 40222.  HomeServices of Kentucky is a

HomeServices of America company.

25.  Defendant Semonin Realtors (ASemonin@) is an assumed Kentucky corporate name

for Defendant HomeServices of Kentucky.  Semonin=s principal place of business is 4967 US

Highway 42, Suite 200, Louisville, Kentucky 40222.  Semonin was a leading real estate broker

in the Commonwealth of Kentucky during the Class Period, and currently controls

approximately 20% of the real estate market in Kentucky.

26.  Defendant Rector-Hayden Realtors (ARector-Hayden@) is an assumed Kentucky

corporate name for Defendant HomeServices of Kentucky.  Rector-Hayden=s principal place of

business is 4967 US Highway 42, Suite 200, Louisville, Kentucky 40222.  During the Class

Period, Rector-Hayden was one of the leading real estate brokers in the Commonwealth of

Kentucky, controlled approximately 50% of the real estate market in central Kentucky since at

least 2003, and currently controls approximately 90% of the market in Lexington, Kentucky.

27.  Defendant Century 21 Real Estate LLC (f/k/a Century 21 Real Estate Corporation)

(ACentury 21") is a subsidiary of Defendant Cendant Corporation.  Century 21's principal place

of business is World Headquarters, 1 Campus Drive, Parsippany, New Jersey 07054.  During the

Class Period, Century 21 was one of the leading franchisors of real estate brokerage services in

the Commonwealth of Kentucky.

      (a) Defendant Cendant Corporation (“Cendant”) is a Delaware corporation with
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its principal place of business at 9 West 57th Street, New York, New York 10019.  

Cendant is the parent company of Defendants Century 21, NRT Inc., and Coldwell

 Banker Real Estate Corporation. 

28.  Defendant RE/MAX International, Inc. (ARE/MAX@) is incorporated in the State of

Colorado and its primary place of business is 8390 Crescent Parkway, Suite 600, Greenwood

Village, Colorado 80111.  During the Class Period, RE/MAX was one of the leading franchisors

of real estate brokerage services in the Commonwealth of Kentucky, and its franchisees

currently control approximately 25% of the real estate market in Louisville, Kentucky.

      (a)  Defendant RE/MAX Connections is located at 118 Bauer Avenue, Louisville, 

Kentucky 40207, and is a KREC brokerage firm comprised of licensed real estate brokers and

sales people.  During the Class Period, RE/MAX Connections was one of the dominant real

estate brokers in the Commonwealth of Kentucky. 

            (b)  Defendant Properties East, Inc., d/b/a RE/MAX Properties East is located at 10525

Timberwood Circle, Suite 100, Louisville, Kentucky 40223, and is a KREC brokerage firm

comprised of licensed real estate brokers and salespeople.  During the Class Period, RE/MAX

Properties East was one of the dominant real estate brokers in the Commonwealth of Kentucky. 

     (c)   Defendant Alliance Real Estate Services, LLC, d/b/a RE/MAX Alliance is a limited

liability company organized under the laws of the state of Colorado with a principal place of

business located at 5440 Ward Road, #230, Arvada, Colorado 80002.  Defendant Suzy N.

Watkins, d/b/a RE/MAX Alliance, is the owner of RE/MAX Alliance of Kentucky, which

maintains three offices in Louisville, Kentucky at 10302 Brookridge Village Blvd, Ste 103,

Louisville, Kentucky, 980 Chambers Blvd., Bardstown, Kentucky 40004 and 833 Valley College

Dr. #13, Louisville, Kentucky 40272.  Alliance Real Estate Services, LLC, d/b/a RE/MAX
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Alliance and Suzy N. Watkins, d/b/a RE/MAX Alliance (collectively “RE/MAX Alliance”) are

franchisees of Defendant RE/MAX International, Inc.  During the Class Period, RE/MAX

Alliance was one of the leading real estate brokers in the Commonwealth of Kentucky and is a

KREC brokerage firm comprised of licensed real estate brokers and salespeople.  

29.  Defendant Coldwell Banker Real Estate Corporation (AColdwell Banker@) is

incorporated in the State of California.  Coldwell Banker’s primary place of business is 1

Campus Drive, Parsippany, New Jersey 07054.  During the Class Period, Coldwell Banker was

one of the leading franchisors of real estate brokerage services in the Commonwealth of

Kentucky.

(a) Defendant NRT, Inc. (“NRT”) is the largest residential real estate brokerage 

company in the nation and is incorporated in Delaware.  NRT is headquartered at 339 Jefferson

Road, P.O. Box 259, Parsippany, New Jersey 07054-0259.  NRT owns and operates companies

in more than 35 of the nation’s largest metropolitan markets, with nearly 1,000 offices, more

than 8,000 employees and 59,000 sales associates.  NRT posted a real estate industry record

$200 billion in closed sales volume in 2004.  NRT does business under the “COLDWELL

BANKER®” brand name, among others.  By Order of this Court dated June 28, 2007, NRT was

dismissed from this action for lack of personal jurisdiction.  Therefore, plaintiffs do not name

NRT as a defendant at this time.  However, plaintiffs reserve the right to appeal such dismissal.

30.  Defendant Coldwell Banker McMahan Company (AColdwell Banker McMahan@) is

as assumed Kentucky corporate name for Coldwell Banker and its primary place of business is

6402 Railroad Avenue, Box 306, Crestwood, Kentucky 40014.  Coldwell Banker McMahan is a

franchisee of Defendant Coldwell Banker.  During the Class Period, Coldwell Banker McMahan

was one of the leading real estate brokers in the Commonwealth of Kentucky.
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 V. CO-CONSPIRATORS

31.  Various individuals, partnerships, corporations, and associations, including other real

estate brokerage firms in Kentucky who are governed by the KREC, not named as Defendants in

this Complaint, have participated as co-conspirators in the violations alleged herein and have

performed acts and made statements in furtherance thereof.

VI. VIOLATIONS ALLEGED

32.  A real estate broker commission is the predominant form of payment for real estate

brokerage services.  These services are virtually identical.  The commission is typically derived

by taking a certain percentage of the price paid for the property.

33.  On the one hand, the prices of real property in Kentucky have increased

dramatically.  For example, according to NAR, the real increase of housing prices in Louisville,

Kentucky during the Class Period was 72.34% above the rate of inflation.  On the other hand,

certain costs of real estate brokers in publicly displaying their listings have decreased

dramatically. 

34.  In a competitive marketplace, the seller and his or her broker negotiate at arms-

length the broker=s commission that will be paid to the seller=s broker, and to the buyer=s broker. 

For example, if the commission is 4%, then the buyer=s broker will take 2%, and the seller=s

broker will take 2%.  If the seller=s broker also finds the buyer, then that broker also keeps the

full commission.  However, in many cases, a second broker represents the buyer.

35.  Normally, businesses compete with one another both in terms of the prices they

charge and the services they perform.  In some markets, real estate brokers have permitted

consumers to choose their own commission.  In a competitive marketplace, such commissions

may be a flat fee or 2.5% of the transaction or lower, and will decline, as a percentage of the
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transaction price, in the circumstances here.

36.  However, because of Defendants’ unlawful agreement alleged herein, competition on

the basis of commission rates has not occurred and Plaintiffs and class members have paid

inflated rates to Defendants.  

37.  Plaintiff Pullen asked his broker, a RE/MAX agent with RE/MAX East, whether the

commission that he would need to pay could be reduced.

38.  Plaintiff Pullen’s broker told him that she would ask the seller’s broker, another

RE/MAX agent with RE/MAX Connections, whether the commission could be negotiated or

lowered.

39.  Afterwards, Mr. Pullen’s broker told him that the seller’s broker refused to lower or

negotiate his commission.

40.  Mr. Pullen’s broker then told Mr. Pullen that she was unwilling to negotiate or lower

his share of the total commission because of the seller’s broker’s refusal to negotiate.

41.  After Mr. Pullen’s broker informed Mr. Pullen that she was not willing to negotiate

her commission,  Mr. Pullen  was charged an industry standard 6% commission.

42.  Plaintiff Hyland’s real estate broker asked him to pay, and he paid, a 6%

commission, which was agreed upon by Mr. Hyland’s broker and the seller’s broker.

43.  Plaintiffs’ investigation indicates that other people have tried to negotiate a lower

commission than 6%, but have been unsuccessful.  To the extent that any negotiation did occur

during the Class Period, the negotiations began with the supra-competitive industry standard 6%

commission as a bench mark and produced a fee that was inflated..

44.  KREC is the sole licensing authority for brokers in the Commonwealth of Kentucky. 

It is unlawful for a person to provide, or offer to provide, real estate brokerage services in
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Kentucky unless he or she holds a current license issued by the KREC.

45.  Therefore, all licensed real estate brokers in the Commonwealth of Kentucky,

including those employed by the Defendants named herein, must abide by rules and edicts

promulgated by the KREC. 

46.  Five Commissioners comprise the KREC.  By statute, four of the five

Commissioners must be active brokers before and during their term on the KREC.  These are

otherwise known as the “Broker-Commissioners.@

47.  When there is a Broker-Commissioner vacancy, the Kentucky Association of

Realtors® (the “KAR”), a private industry trade group of brokers who are members of the

National Association of Realtors® (“NAR”), selects a list of not less than three nominees from

which the Governor of Kentucky must appoint the new Commissioner.  The Governor may

reappoint a particular Broker-Commissioner only if the KAR chooses to resubmit the Broker-

Commissioner’s name on its new list of nominees.

48.  Since 1999, Mr. Arel McMahan, the principal broker of Defendant Coldwell Banker

McMahan Company, has been a Commissioner on the KREC.

49.  The KREC works closely with the KAR in determining which rules to promulgate. 

When the KREC has considered changing its regulations, it has formed a joint task force

consisting of KREC and KAR representatives.  These joint task forces have prepared draft

regulatory text for the KREC’s consideration.

50.  Kentucky law authorized the KREC to take disciplinary action against any broker

who violates Kentucky real estate statutes or any of the KREC’s regulations, including the

Rebate Ban. However, the Kentucky legislature expressly forbade the KREC from

“promulgat[ing] any regulation which in any way fixes prices, establishes fees, or sets the rate at
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which [brokers] are compensated.@  Ky. Rev. Stat. '324.282.

51.  Nonetheless, the KREC passed the Rebate Ban in 1991.  This administrative

regulation prohibited all licensed brokers in the Commonwealth of Kentucky from offering to

the general public any item or thing of value, including rebates that reduce fees,  to induce

clients to retain their services.  See 201 Ky. Admin. Reg. 11:011, Section 1(5); 201  Ky.Admin.

Reg.11:121, Section 1(2).) 

52.  Specifically, the KREC forbade a broker At[o] offer, either through advertising, direct

contact or by others, to the general public, any prize, money, free gift, rebate, or any thing  of

value as an inducement.@  201 Ky. Admin. Reg. 11:121, Section 1(2).

53.  In the absence of the Rebate Ban, rebates may have happened, price competition may

have taken hold, and it would have been more difficult for Defendants to maintain their

combination, conspiracy and agreement.

54.  Even though the Rebate Ban enabled and facilitated price fixing, the KREC rejected

proposals to eliminate the rule in 2004.

55.  Due to the obvious anti-competitive nature of the Rebate Ban, on or about March 30,

2005, the DOJ filed a complaint in this Court against the KREC.

56.  The DOJ complaint alleged that the KREC=s Rebate Ban was a per se violation of '1

of  the Sherman Act, 15 U.S.C. '1, because, among other  things,  it Aenabled Brokers to raise,

fix, peg, or stabilize the prices and rates at which Brokers are compensated.@ See Complaint,

United States of America v. Kentucky Real Estate Commission, Civil Action No. 3:05-CV-188-

H, p. 2, ¶4, attached hereto as Exhibit “A”.

57.  On or about July 14, 2005, instead of answering the DOJ=s complaint, the KREC

settled the litigation with the DOJ.
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58.  Accordingly, on or about August 4, 2005, this Court signed and approved a

Stipulation and Order submitted by the settling parties which required the KREC to no longer

enforce the Rebate Ban against its licensees, and for the ban to be abolished.  See Stipulation and

Order, United States of America v. Kentucky Real Estate Commission, Civil Action No. 3:05-

CV-00185-S; see also Amended Final Judgment, United States of America v. Kentucky Real

Estate Commission, 3:05-CV-188-S.

(a)  The Defendants – mutually, jointly and individually – have taken parallel or 

similar steps to develop, maintain, encourage and enforce the following.  There has been a

consensual culture and convention among Kentucky real estate brokers to avoid, reduce or

eliminate competition on the basis of prices they charge for their services, i.e., the real estate

broker’s fee.

(b) Attached as Exhibits “B” and “C” hereto are the Complaint and Amended 

Complaint that were filed by the DOJ against the NAR in the United States District Court for the

Northern District of Illinois in a case captioned as United States of America v. National

Association of Realtors.

(c) The DOJ Antitrust Division has also opposed various measures that NAR has 

lobbied for in various states.  These measures were also designed to avoid, reduce, or eliminate

competition on the basis of price, i.e., the real estate broker’s fee.  Such measures include the

prohibition of a-la-carte real estate services in various states, including Alabama, Oklahoma, and

Texas.  A-la-carte real estate services reduce real estate brokerage fees paid by consumers

because they allow the consumer to do some of the work that would otherwise be done by the

real estate broker.

(d) The NAR is a trade association organized under the laws of Illinois with its 
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principal place of business in Chicago, Illinois.  NAR establishes and enforces policies and

professional standards for its over one million individual member brokers and their affiliated

agents and sales associates, which are otherwise known as “Realtors®”, and 1,600 local and

state member boards.  The NAR pays more lobbying fees than any other organization in the

United States.

(e) The NAR promotes and organizes state and local organizations of real 

estate brokers.  The Defendants and the NAR helped organize various boards in the

Commonwealth, including Greater Louisville Board of Realtors® and the Lexington-Bluegrass

Board of Realtors®.

(f) The NAR and various Defendants also organized at least  28 local Multiple 

Listing Services (“MLS”) in Kentucky.  See http://ired.com/boards/ky.htm.

(g)   Defendants Rector-Hayden, Semonin, RE/MAX East, RE/MAX Connect, 

Coldwell Banker McMahan, and various unnamed franchisees of Century 21 are dues-paying

members of the NAR.

(h) Defendants Rector-Hayden, Semonin, RE/MAX East, RE/MAX Connect, 

Coldwell Banker McMahan, and various unnamed franchisees of Century 21 are also dues-

paying members of the KAR.  

(i) These Defendants are also dues-paying members of various MLSs in Kentucky. 

(j) Through the NAR, the KAR, their work together in Kentcuky MLS groups, 

and through other joint and individual steps, Defendants have paid for and taken steps explicitly

intended to avoid, reduce or eliminate competition on the basis of the price they charge, i.e., the

real estate broker’s commission.  See Exhibits A - C attached hereto.

(k) Several Defendants are influential members of the NAR and the KAR, 
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including Defendant Coldwell Banker McMahan.

(l) As the DOJ has filed complaints against NAR and KREC, and taken other steps

to thwart the culture and pricing conduct promoted by Defendants, various Defendants have

made public statements indicating that real estate brokers must avoid, reduce, or eliminate price

competition.  

(m) These statements include the following.  On February 28, 2003, in a widely 

circulated white paper, Mr. Mark Panus, Vice President of Communications and Public Affairs

for the Cendant Real Estate Services Division, asserted that is was not “feasible” for even the

largest traditional brokers to compete with large Internet-based real estate brokerage companies. 

Mr. Panus also explained in the white paper that Internet-based real estate brokerage companies

have the potential to undermine the profitability of real estate brokerage firms.  

(n) Mr. Dave Liniger, chairman of the board of Defendant RE/MAX, has also 

publicly expressed his concern that Internet-based brokerage firms would inevitably place

downward pressure on brokers’ commission rates.  

(o)  Consistent with the foregoing culture and statements, various Defendants have 

enforced their price fixing agreement by boycotting price-cutting rivals, such as Help-U-Sell. 

Help-U-Sell is a non-Internet based discount brokerage firm that recently began operating in

Kentucky. It is being boycotted because it charges its customers a reduced fixed fee, rather than

the standard percentage commission.

(p) Further maintaining the consensual convention and culture among Kentucky 

real estate brokers to avoid competition on the basis of price, has been the following.  Certain

Defendants have systematically and intentionally engaged in conduct to increase the

concentration and standardization of Kentucky real estate brokers through franchising.
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(q) Conspicuously, each franchisor Defendant has followed parallel conduct of 

not advertising in Kentucky that it offers discount fees and commissions that are lower than its

competitors.

(r) Another type of parallel conduct in which each of the franchisor Defendants 

has engaged is the following.  Each franchisor Defendant has been careful to eliminate terms

from their franchise agreements that expressly incentivize or encourage the franchisee to charge

lower fees than their competitors.

(s) On the contrary, some Defendants have made agreements with or inducements to 

numerous real estate brokers in Kentucky that incentivize and suggest the following.  Even if

such brokers do not themselves set the fee, such brokers should nonetheless insure that the

standard (“regularly charged”) fee is charged to the consumer.  For example, the franchise

agreement between Coldwell Banker and Coldwell Banker McMahan provides that Coldwell

Banker McMahan’s “regularly charged brokerage commission or fee shall be imputed with

respect to transactions involving any of your Affiliate(s) acting as a principal for purposes of

computing the Royalty Fee payable to use in connection with such transactions.”  (Emphasis

added.)  An “[a]ffiliate acting as a principal” is a real estate broker who effectuates a real estate

transaction on his own behalf.  

(t) The franchisor Defendants profit off higher commissions in at least three respects. 

First, higher commissions translate into higher revenues for franchisors that keep a part of their

agents’ commissions.  Second, higher commissions attract more real estate brokers and sales

people, which, in turn, translates into more fees for the franchisor.  Finally, when the

franchisees’ salespeople charge higher commissions, the franchisor is able to ask for higher fees

from its franchisors. 
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(u) The franchisor Defendants themselves combined, conspired and agreed – and 

also through their franchisees’ setting of prices and the other facts and conduct further combined,

conspired, and agreed – to fix prices and avoid price competition as alleged herein. Because the

respective trademarks franchised by Defendants Century 21, Coldwell Banker, and RE/MAX to

their franchisees are registered with the United States Patent and Trademark Office, these

Defendants are mandated by the Lanham Act to control “the nature and quality of the goods or

services” offered by their franchisees in connection with the mark.  15 U.S.C. §1127 (emphasis

added).  Absent such control of their franchisees, the franchisor Defendants risk losing their

trademark rights due to, among other things, dilution or abandonment.  See 15 U.S.C. §1127. 

The franchisor defendants conditioned and controlled the culture of their franchisees.

(v) Fees of stock brokers, market-makers, travel agents, and transaction 

facilitators in other U.S. industries have declined dramatically since 1991.  Because Defendants

have expressly or tacitly agreed to fix and maintain fees in Kentucky and avoid competing with

one another on the basis of fees in Kentucky, real estate commissions in Kentucky have

increased since 1991.  This would not have occurred in a competitive market free of collusion.

(w) Kentucky licenses its brokers who operate under the purview of the KREC.  

The relevant product and geographic market is the market for real estate brokerage commissions

in Kentucky. 

VII. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS

59.  Plaintiffs, identified in paragraph 21 – 22  herein, bring this action on behalf of

themselves and as a class action under Rules 23(a), (b)(2), and (b)(3) of the Federal Rules of

Civil Procedure on behalf of all members of the following class of plaintiffs:

All persons or entities (excluding governmental entities, Defendants, their
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parents, subsidiaries and affiliates) who purchased or sold real estate  in the
Commonwealth of Kentucky (referred to herein as the “Class”) from January 1,
1991, to the present (referred to herein as the AClass Period@).1

60.  This action is properly maintainable as a class action. The members of the Class are

so numerous and geographically dispersed that joinder of all Class members is impracticable. 

On information and belief, there are in excess of 25,000 members of the Class and they reside in

various places throughout Kentucky and elsewhere.

61.  Questions of law and fact common to the members of the Class exist, and

predominate over questions, if any, that may affect only individual members, because

Defendants have acted on grounds generally applicable to the entire Class.  The questions of law

and fact common to the Class include, but are not limited to:

(a) Whether the Defendants engaged in a contract, combination, or conspiracy to fix

the price of real estate broker commissions during the Class Period;

(b) Whether Defendants violated Section 1 of the Sherman Act;

(c) The duration, scope, extent and effect of the conspiracy alleged herein;

(d) Whether Defendants and each of them was a participant in the contract,

combination, or conspiracy alleged herein; and

(e) The effect upon and extent of injuries sustained by Plaintiffs and members of the

Class and the appropriate type and/or measure of damages.

62.  The Plaintiffs purchased in the affected market and their claims are typical of the

claims of all Class members.

63.  The Plaintiffs will adequately represent the interests of the Class, and their interests
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are coincident with and not antagonistic to the members of the Class.  

64.  The Plaintiffs have retained competent counsel who are experienced in complex

antitrust and other class actions, and they are committed to prosecute this action vigorously.

65.  Defendants have acted on grounds generally applicable to the Class.  Prosecution of

separate actions by individual members of the Class would create the risk of inconsistent or

varying adjudications with respect to individual members of the Class which would establish

incompatible standards of conduct for the Defendants.

66.  There are no difficulties likely to be encountered in the management of this class

action that would preclude its maintenance as a class action, and no superior alternative exists for

the fair and efficient adjudication of this controversy.  Real estate transactions usually are

publicly recorded and identification and notification of class members may be facilitated by

public records as well as Defendants’ own records. 

CAUSES OF ACTION

COUNT I

PER SE VIOLATION OF SECTION ONE OF THE SHERMAN ACT

67.  As more fully set forth above, Defendants combined, conspired and agreed to fix,

maintain and inflate real estate broker commissions and associated fees and refuse to compete on

the basis of the amount of their fee on transactions in Kentucky real estate.  This is a per se

violation of '1 of the Sherman Act.

68.  Because of the Defendants= combination, conspiracy, or agreement, Plaintiffs and the

members of the Class have paid supra-competitive real estate broker fees during the Class Period,

and have been damaged in their property thereby.  Unless enjoined, Defendants’ contract,

combination and conspiracy will continue.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs and the Class respectfully request:

A. That the Court declare, adjudge and decree this action to be a proper class action

pursuant to Rule 23 of the Federal Rules of Civil Procedure on behalf of the Class defined herein;

B. That the Court declare, adjudge and decree that Defendants have committed the

violations alleged herein, including §1 of the Sherman Act and be enjoined and restrained from

continuing the same;

C.  That this Court declare that the Plaintiffs and the members of the Class 

suffered damages as a proximate result thereof;

D. That this Court enter judgment in favor of the Plaintiffs and the Class, 

jointly and severally, including for the treble damages of each Plaintiff and Class member

(including recovery of the sums alleged herein) due to the violation of the Sherman Act; 

E. That Plaintiffs and the Class be awarded the cost of the suit, including 

reasonable attorney's fees, and interest; and

F. That Plaintiffs and the Class be granted injunctive relief against 

Defendants’ violative conduct and such other and further equitable or other relief as the Court

may deem just and proper.

Dated: Louisville, Kentucky
  July 20, 2007

BISHOP & ASSOCIATES, P.S.C.

By: /s/ Robert W. Bishop
Robert W. Bishop, Esq.
6520 Glenridge Park Place, Suite 6
Louisville, Kentucky 40222
Telephone: (502) 425 - 2600 
Facsimile: (502) 425 - 9115
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LOVELL STEWART HALEBIAN LLP

Christopher Lovell, Esq. (admitted pro hac vice)
Gary S. Jacobson, Esq. (admitted pro hac vice)
Imtiaz A. Siddiqui, Esq.
500 Fifth Avenue, Suite 5800
New York, New York 10110
Telephone: (212) 608 - 1900
Facsimile: (212) 719 – 4677

Counsel for Plaintiffs and the putative Class


